12/22/2023

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0613

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 23-0613

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

COLE LARSON LEVINE,

Defendant and Appellee.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

On Appeal from the Montana Fourth Judicial District Court, Missoula County, The Honorable Shane A. Vannatta, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN
Montana Attorney General
ROY BROWN
Assistant Attorney General
215 North Sanders
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59620-1401
Phone: 406-444-2026
roy.brown2@mt.gov

MATTHEW C. JENNINGS BRITTANY LYNN WILLIAMS Deputy County Attorneys 200 West Broadway Missoula, MT 59802

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Whether the district court incorrectly interpreted Mont. Code Ann. § 46-5-605(3)(a)—the long-arm jurisdiction statute for electronic communication search warrants—in deeming a search warrant issued to Verizon Wireless, a company registered to conduct business in Montana, invalid for lack of jurisdiction.

Alternatively, whether the district court erroneously failed to apply the "good faith" exception to the warrant requirement to prevent suppression of the historical phone data subject to the warrant.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 18, 2022, Cole Larson Levine assaulted M.H. and attempted to rape her in a downtown Missoula alley. When M.H. cried out for help, she alerted a friend who was walking on the nearby sidewalk during the assault. The friend chased Levine away. While Levine had taken M.H.'s cell phone in the preceding struggle, he dropped his own cell phone in the alley before fleeing. Police recovered Levine's phone. (*See* Doc. 2.)

On September 9, 2022, Levine was arrested. (Doc. 51, Report 2022-31491.)

The State charged him with attempted sexual intercourse without consent,

attempted kidnapping, aggravated assault, and criminal destruction of or tampering with a communication device. (Doc. 4.)

On September 14, 2022, the State applied for, and was granted, a search warrant pertaining to the data physically stored on Levine's phone. (Doc. 28, Ex. 2.) The phone's data was forensically extracted. (Doc. 28, thumb drive, Exs. 3-4, Cellebrite Extraction Data and Extraction Report.)

On October 3, 2022, pursuant to the district court's finding of probable cause, the State issued a search warrant to the custodian of records at Verizon Wireless in Bedminster, New Jersey, seeking historical records—such as GPS, location tracking, and cloud data—from May 20, 2022, through August 20, 2022, for Levine's phone. (Doc. 28, Ex. 5.) This October 3, 2022 warrant is the only search warrant at issue for this appeal.¹

Levine filed a motion to suppress and a brief in support. (Doc. 28.) In his brief, Levine did not raise any claim related to the statutory authority for the district court to issue the October 3, 2022 warrant to Verizon Wireless. Instead, Levine raised the following issues: (1) the responding officer executed a warrantless search when he called 911 to verify Levine's phone number and read the text messages visible on Levine's home screen from escorts services; (2) the

¹See Appellant's App. A. at 24 ("The Court has only suppressed the evidence seized pursuant to the October 3, 2022 search warrant[.]")

State's warrant application for searching Levine's phone was unconstitutionally broad; and (3) the extraction of data from the phone and the search of the Verizon records conducted pursuant to the search warrant were based on unconstitutionally obtained information without probable cause. (Doc. 28.) The State responded, addressing all of Levine's raised claims. (Doc. 37.)

On March 14, 2023, for the first time in a reply brief, Levine proffered a new claim that "the Search Warrant attached as Exhibit 5 to the Motion is an illegal extraterritorial warrant and void *ab initio*." (Doc. 47 at 3.) The State wasn't aware that Levine had raised a new issue "for the first time in their reply brief" until defense counsel emailed the State. (Doc. 48.) Thus, on March 27, 2023, the same day the State alerted the district court of that fact, the State promptly filed a sur-reply addressing the new claim. (Docs. 48, 49.)

A couple weeks later, defense counsel filed a "Notice of Supplemental Authority." This "notice" did not alert the court of any new or intervening authority, but rather attached an opinion from two years prior—federal Judge Susan Watters' opinion in *United States v. Webb*, No. CR 19-121-BLG-SPW-1, 2021 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 1009 (D. Mont. Jan. 4, 2021)—for the first time. (Doc. 53.) The notice also contained substantial argument raising the "good faith exception" as discussed in *Webb* but arguing that Judge Watters' application of the

good faith exception "cannot be reconciled with" this Court's precedent that warrants issued without statutory authority are "void *ab initio*." (*Id*.)

On September 29, 2023, without conducting an evidentiary hearing, the district court denied suppression of the other claims raised in Levine's opening brief, but granted Levine's suppression claim raised in his reply brief, agreeing with Levine that the October 3, 2022 search warrant was "invalid for lack of jurisdiction and therefore void *ab initio*." (Doc. 71 at 21, attached as State's App. A.)

The substantive effect of the district court's suppression order was to exclude accurate historical data—including GPS location data detailing Levine's cell phone's movements through downtown Missoula. (*See* Doc. 28, Ex. 5; Doc. 41 at 4-5.) The court's suppression order also excluded data in possession of Verizon Wireless pertaining to: (1) customer/subscriber information; (2) device purchase information; (3) email addresses associated with the account; (4) cell detail records; (5) cell site information; (6) cell site locations; (7) location information including current location, distance to the tower, timing, and triangulation information; (8) text messages; and (9) cloud data. (Doc. 28, Ex. 5, available at Appellant's App. B.)

Pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 46-20-103(1)(e), the State of Montana timely appealed the district court's opinion and order invalidating the October 3,

2022 search warrant to Verizon Wireless and suppressing the evidence collected pursuant to that warrant. (10/18/23 Notice of Appeal.)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

I. The offense

On August 14, 2022, Defendant Levine, previously from New Mexico, moved to Missoula to begin law school at the University of Montana. Levine moved into a house with several first-year law school classmates he had met online. (Doc. 25, Ex. 4 at 1.) His mother Elana Levine secured a room at the Comfort Inn in downtown Missoula from August 14 through August 19, with a plan to help him settle in before law school. (Doc. 2 at 3.) At this time, Levine was 23 years old. Levine is 5'8", 160 pounds, and Caucasian, with short brown or black hair, and minimal facial hair.²

On August 17, 2022, Levine and his roommate D.S. were watching television at around 9 or 10 p.m. (Doc. 25, Ex. 4 at 1.) Levine invited D.S. to go out to the bars. D.S. declined because law school orientation was scheduled to start early the next morning. Levine left the house, and D.S. did not see him the

²(Doc. 25, Ex. 2 at 2 supplemental police report describing Levine's identifying characteristics; *see* Doc. 47, Ex. 2, N.M. police descriptive information; *see also* Doc. 51, Report 2022-31941 at 29, surveillance photo of Levine's full profile at Comfort Inn Hotel lobby on August 18, 2022.)

rest of that night. (*Id.*) Levine was wearing a white t-shirt, dark pants, and white tennis shoes. (*See* Doc. 28, flash drive: Ex. 4 at 147, IMG_2036 and Ex. 4 at 149, IMG_2042, "selfies" recovered from the night of August 17, 2022.)

That night—sometime around 2 a.m. on August 18, 2022—M.H. was bar hopping in downtown Missoula, celebrating a friend's birthday. (Doc. 2 at 5; Doc. 51, Report 2022-31941 at 24-25.) She walked alone to Al and Vic's bar to meet her boyfriend. (Doc. 2 at 5.) En route, at an alley intersection near the Garlington Lohn and Robinson building at 350 Ryman Street, M.H. was approached by two males. (*Id.*) One male was someone M.H. might have seen earlier that night, possibly at the Golden Rose or Badlander Bar. (*Id.*) M.H. noted that the male was a Caucasian male in his twenties to thirties. She estimated he was 5'9" to 5'10", with an average or thin but fit athletic build, short dark hair, no facial hair, and wearing a light-colored t-shirt. (*Id.*) The second male was Caucasian, 6' or 6'1" tall, with short dirty blond hair, and a broader build. (*Id.*)³

The shorter male—later identified from recovery of his cell phone as Cole Levine—abruptly began to engage M.H. in conversation that "caught her off guard[.]" (*Id.*) Next, Levine forced himself onto M.H. and tried to kiss her, while

³The record does not indicate that the blond male actively participated in the offense. It also does not indicate whether he witnessed the assault or fled after Levine encountered M.H. Police efforts to identify him were inconclusive. (*See*, *e.g.*, Doc. 51, Report 2022-31491 at 47.)

M.H. tried to pull away. (*Id*.) M.H. asked Levine what he was doing and informed him that she had a boyfriend. (*Id*.) Levine told M.H. she was "naughty" and she would "like it." (*Id*.)

Levine dragged M.H. from the sidewalk into the alley, physically holding her wrists and neck and directing her where to go. (*Id.* at 5-6.) M.H. protested, explaining that she was not interested in Levine and did not want to go with him. (*Id.* at 6.) Levine responded that M.H. was "nasty" and "liked it rough." (*Id.*) M.H. slapped Levine in the face. (*Id.*) This did not deter Levine but rather "seemed to excite him." (*Id.*) M.H. again tried to pull away, but Levine pushed her against the wall of the building. (*Id.*) Despite her protestations, Levine continually tried to persuade M.H. to go with him. (*Id.*) When she declined, Levine "became rougher with her." (*Id.*)

Next, Levine pushed M.H. into a seated position and began telling M.H. what he intended to do with his penis. (*Id.*) He removed his erect penis from his clothing. (*Id.*) Then he put his penis back into his clothing and lifted M.H. into a standing position, moving her further into the alley and explaining she needed to go with him so they could have "rough" and "dominant" sex. (*Id.*) M.H. again said no. (*Id.*) Levine put M.H. on the ground on her back while he squeezed her neck with his hands. (*Id.*) Levine said "C'mon, lets go." (*Id.*) Again, M.H. said no. (*Id.*)

Levine tightened his grip on M.H.'s throat and she began having difficulty breathing and seeing "spots" in her vision. (*Id.*) Levine reached into the slit on the side of M.H.'s skirt and touched the outside of her vagina over her underwear. (*Id.* at 7.) He tried to pull her underwear to the side but he did not penetrate her vagina. (*Id.*) He touched her vagina with his right hand while his left hand held on to her throat. (*Id.*) He held M.H.'s throat for around ten seconds, compressing her airway and causing her to panic because she could not breathe or scream. (*Id.*) He maintained his hold on M.H.'s throat. (*Id.*) M.H. was fearful she would be seriously hurt or lose consciousness. (*Id.* at 6-7.) Thus, M.H. decided to pretend to go along with Levine, in order to stop the strangulation and have a chance to escape. (*Id.* at 7.)

With a more compliant M.H., Levine allowed M.H. back up onto her feet. She promptly ran eastbound in the alley, while attempting to call 911 for help. (*Id.*) Levine chased her down the alley and tripped her from behind, causing her to fall on her left knee. (*Id.*) He grabbed M.H.'s cell phone. (*Id.*) In the process of grabbing her cell phone, Levine's own cell phone fell to the ground. (*Id.*) M.H. began panicking and said, "Please don't do this" and "Let me go" and "Give me my phone back" and "I don't want to do this." (*Id.*)

Fortunately, while struggling with Levine, M.H. saw two of her male friends, K.B. and J.F., walking on the sidewalk. (*Id.* at 7, 2.) M.H. screamed,

"Please help me!" (*Id.* at 2, 7.) K.B. looked into the alley and saw a male, later identified as Levine, "having his arm around" M.H. and trying to "grab her." (*Id.* at 2.) K.B. yelled at Levine, breaking his attention. (*Id.*) Levine pushed M.H. onto the ground and fled with M.H's phone. (*Id.*) Levine left his own phone in the alley where he attacked M.H. (*Id.*)

K.B. ran after Levine south toward Higgins Avenue. (*Id.*) He could not keep up, and Levine escaped toward the Higgins bridge. (Doc. 25, Ex. 2, police supplemental report.) K.B. would later continue to look for M.H.'s attacker but his efforts would be unsuccessful.⁴

At 2:12 a.m., Missoula Police officers responded to the scene and spoke with M.H., K.B., and J.F. (Doc. 2 at 2.) K.B. had gotten "a good look" at Levine and described him as "5'8" to 5'9" tall, with a stocky build, possibly between his 20's to early 30's, wearing a white t-shirt, baseball cap, black jeans and white sneakers." (*Id.* at 2-3.) J.F. described the assailant similarly and concurred with K.B.'s description of the event. (*Id.* at 3.)

⁴After K.B. lost track of Levine, he later saw another person at 2:47 a.m., who appeared to match the description of the suspect, at the Roam Student Living Center. (*See* Doc. 51, Report 2022-31941 at 51.) Upon the initial contact and subsequent investigation, police determined the person was J.C., who provided an alibi for around the time of the offense—corroborated by multiple witnesses and surveillance video—that he was in his own bedroom at the time of the offense. (*Id.*)

K.B. provided the phone to Officer Harris. (*Id.* at 3.) Officer Harris pressed the emergency button on the phone to call 911. Dispatch informed Officer Harris the phone number was 915-471-4506. Cross-referencing the cell number, police identified the phone as belonging to Cole Levine from New Mexico. (*Id.* at 3; Doc. 25, Ex. 2 at 2.)

Visible on the phone's startup screen were text messages received at approximately 2:20 a.m. The first message was from (432) 245-0092 and said, "Do you need my services and where are you located?" The second message was from (320) 559-6059 and said, "How're you doing and where are you located?" Police determined that the two texts were from escort services. (Doc. 2 at 3.) The (432) number was related to us.escortsaffair.com and associated advertisements were posted on August 17, 2022, by escort "TS Mara." (Doc. 25, Ex. 3.) The (320) number was from the website "skipthegames.com, posted by escort "Amber" in Missoula. (*Id.*) Authorities would later determine that Levine had called both escorts earlier that night before he received their responsive texts.⁵

The next morning, Levine's roommate D.S. noticed that Levine's bedroom door was closed and Levine had failed to attend law school orientation. (Doc. 25,

⁵Cell phone logs confirmed Levine called the (432) number on August 17, 2022, at 11:25 p.m., which was answered. Levine also called (320) number a few minutes later, which was not answered. (*See* Doc. 28, thumb drive, Ex. 4, cell log records; Doc. 40 at 8.)

Ex. 4 at 1.) D.S. caught up with Levine later that night. (*Id.*) Levine "stated that a female tried to steal his cell phone" the prior night, but he claimed the incident occurred at a bar. (*Id.*) Levine said he had tried to "wrestle it" back from her while he was "on top of her" trying to retrieve the phone, that it "looked really bad[,]" and that "the police have his cell phone." (*Id.*)

In a later conversation, Levine told D.S. that he was "interest[ed] in going to a country that does not have an extradition treaty with the United States." (*Id.*) On September 7, 2022, D.S. also overheard Levine talking with his father on the phone. (*Id.*) D.S. heard Levine say, "Did mom tell you about my plan?" (*Id.*) On September 8, 2022, D.S. overheard Levine on the phone inquiring "about getting an expedited passport." (*Id.*)

II. The investigation

After quickly identifying Levine through his dropped cell phone, police learned that Levine's mother Elana was registered at the Comfort Inn. (Doc. 2 at 4.) At around noon on August 18, Levine, dressed in a full suit, entered the lobby and requested to see his mom. (*Id.*; *see also* Doc. 51, Report 2022-31941 at 29, surveillance photo.) At 12:40 p.m., officers saw Elana enter the hotel. (*Id.*) She confirmed she was in Missoula to move Levine into law school. (*Id.*) After confirming that Levine was not at the hotel, Detective Baker told Elana that he

wanted to speak with Levine about a cell phone he had lost. (*Id.*) Elana was aware of the lost cell phone. She explained that Levine had stated "he lost it while out with some friends and that they had purchased him a new phone earlier in the day." (*Id.*)

On August 25, 2022, M.H. provided Detective Baker a detailed account of the offense. (*See* Doc. 40 at 3.) Meanwhile, Officer Hoffman confirmed Levine's personal identifying characteristics, which matched the witness descriptions. (Doc. 25, Ex. 2 at 2.)

On September 9, 2022, Detective Baker received an anonymous tip that Levine was considering fleeing the country. (Doc. 41 at 2.) He thereafter met with Levine's roommate, D.S., who provided more information. (*Id.*) Next, he contacted federal authorities, requesting Levine be flagged to monitor any attempts to obtain a passport and leave the United States. (Doc. 51, Report 2022-31491 at 46.)

On September 15, 2022, Detective Baker found surveillance footage from the Missoula Housing Authority at 149 West Broadway, depicting "a male wearing a white shirt" who was "running westbound in the alley" near a parking structure. (Doc. 51, Report 2022-31941 at 44-45, *see also* associated photos.) The footage, occurring at 2:20 a.m., depicted a male wearing "a light colored shirt, darker pants and white shoes[.]" (*Id.* at 44-45, 57.) From Levine's cell phone, authorities also

recovered some selfies taken by Levine the night of the offense, showing that he had been wearing a white t-shirt, dark pants, and white tennis shoes. (*See* flash drive: Ex. 4 at 147, IMG 2036; Ex. 4 at 149, IMG 2042.)

Pursuant to the search warrants pertaining to Levine's phone and data, police recovered evidence suggesting Levine's "involvement in the crime and certainly his presence at the scene around the time of the crime." (Doc. 41 at 4-5.)

III. Pretrial proceedings

In the omnibus memorandum, Levine affirmed that he would be relying on the defense of "mistaken identity," which was approved by the court. (Doc. 14; Doc. 15 at 4.)

IV. Levine's flights to California and Canada

Apart from Levine's flight from the scene of his assault, and as alluded to by his roommate D.S., Levine did indeed attempt to execute a plan to flee prosecution. First, while the parties initially agreed that Levine could reside at his parent's home in New Mexico pretrial (Doc. 11), Levine was thereafter arrested for battery against his father, and subsequently fled to California. (Doc. 19; *See also* Doc. 27 at 4; Doc. 31 at 51; Doc. 27 at 4; Doc. 35, Ex A.) He was arrested and transported back to Montana. (Doc. 30; Doc. 31 at 6.)

On October 19, 2023, after Levine had his bond and release conditions reduced and he posted bond, Levine fled to Idaho, where his GPS stopped working. (Doc. 73, Ex. 1; Docs. 54-55; Doc. 57.) Thereafter, Levine fled to British Columbia, Canada, where he was arrested the next day. (Doc. 80; Doc. 81 at 3.)

V. Analyses of Mont. Code Ann. § 46-5-605(3)(a)

A. Webb decision

In 2021, the federal district court in *Webb* analyzed the long-arm jurisdiction statute for serving warrants regarding electronic communications, Mont. Code Ann. § 46-5-605(3)(a), which provides:

A warrant or investigative subpoena under 46-5-602 may be served only on a provider of an electronic communication that is a domestic entity or a company or entity otherwise doing business in this state under a contract or a terms of service agreement with a resident of this state if any part of that contract or agreement is to be performed in this state.

Mont. Code Ann. § 46-5-605(3)(a). The court first observed: "Under the plain language of the statute, the company must be operating or doing business in Montana under a contract or terms of service agreement with *at least one Montana resident*." Webb, 2021 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 1009 at *10 (emphasis added). However, the court ultimately ruled that the warrant was invalid, concluding so because Webb himself was not a Montana citizen and he held a cell phone with an out-of-state area

code. *Id.* *11. While the court explained that such facts were "critical as it relates to the statutory authorization," the court did not thereafter detail why the defendant's area code and residency status were relevant to interpreting the long-arm jurisdiction statute. *See id.* However, the court ultimately ruled that any error with the issuance of the warrant was irrelevant because the "good faith" exception prevented suppression of the cell phone warrant data. *Id.* *12-13.

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