03/20/2024

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0613

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 23-0613

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

COLE LARSON LEVINE.

Defendant and Appellee.

On Appeal from the Fourth Judicial District Court of Missoula County State of Montana, the Honorable Shane A. Vannatta, Presiding

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE COLE LARSON LEVINE

Austin Knudsen Montana Attorney General Roy Brown Assistant Attorney General 215 N. Sanders P.O. Box 201401 Helena, MT 59601 Telephone: (406) 444-2026

Telephone: (406) 444-2026 roy.brown2@mt.gov

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

Brief in Support of Motion to Suppress and Motion to Dismiss). Only one claim is before this Court, which was characterized by Appellee Levine as whether the Search Warrant attached as Appendix B (hereinafter "App. B") to Appellant's "Related Documents" filing on December 22, 2023, was an illegal extraterritorial search warrant¹ and void *ab initio*. *See* ROA 47 at page 3:3-3:6. The Motion was fully briefed and the State was allowed to file a Sur-Reply to the Reply of Appellee. *See* ROA 49. The district court conducted a hearing on April 14, 2023, *see* ROA 52, and issued an Opinion & Order Partially Granting Defendant's Motion to Suppress, ROA 71, attached as Appendix A (hereinafter "App. A") to Appellant's "Related Documents" filing on December 22, 2023. The district court suppressed the evidence generally described in App. B *see* last page (the return) and more particularly described in the Order at ROA 71, page 24 (*See* App. A).

Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal as permitted by Mont. Code Ann.§ 46-20-103(2)(e) (appealing an order suppressing evidence) bringing the case before this Court.

III. Statement of the Facts Relevant to Issues Presented for Review.

Pursuant to M. R. App. P. 12(1)(d) and 12(2), Appellee states the facts relevant to the issues presented for review, with references to the pages or parts of the record at which material facts appear, are as follows.

¹ The Search Warrant and Return for Same make up Appendix B.

a. Facts Relevant to the Issues Presented for Review.

On October 3, 2022, Cpl. Mitchell Lang applied for a Search Warrant for data in possession of Cellco Partnership, LLP dba Verizon Wireless, located at 180 Washington Valley Road in the City of Bedminster, in the State of New Jersey. *See* Exhibit 5, to ROA 28 in its entirety. Fourth Judicial District Judge Shane A. Vannatta issued a search warrant, and the location in New Jersey was searched and evidence was seized. *See* App. B. The location, 180 Washington Valley Road, Bedminster, New Jersey is outside the State of Montana. The Search Warrant in question was an extraterritorial warrant.

b. Facts not Relevant to the Issues Presented for Review.

Appellant attempts to characterize Appellee Levine as a kidnapper and sexual assailant in a transparent effort to distract the Court from the issue presented and avoid scrutiny of the presence, as well as absence, of support for the Appellant's arguments. In addition, the only evidence supporting this allegation are hearsay statements by the prosecutors themselves (*See* ROA 2, Amended Motion and Affidavit for Leave to File Information), and the investigating officer (*see* Application for Search Warrant, at pages 1-2, of Exhibit 5 to ROA 28). Unlike most cases that come before this Court in criminal matters, there has been no trial or adjudication of guilt and there has been no adversarial testing of the State's allegations. A defendant in a criminal action is presumed innocent until the contrary

is proved. See Mont. Code Ann. § 46-16-204. Moreover, "...[t]his presumption remains with him throughout every stage of the trial..." See MCJI 1-104 (2022). Unless and until the State proves, at a trial, that Appellee Levine is Guilty, this Court should presume him to be innocent. In addition, numerous procedures fundamental to our criminal justice system and designed to reveal and discover the truth have not yet been employed. "The right to offer the testimony of witnesses, and to compel their attendance, if necessary, is in plain terms the right to present a defense, the right to present the defendant's version of the facts as well as the prosecution's to the jury so it may decide where the truth lies... This right is a fundamental element of due process of law." Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14, 19 (1967). "Our cases establish, at a minimum, that criminal defendants have ... the right to put before a jury evidence that might influence the determination of guilt." Pennsylvania v. Ritchie, 480 U.S. 39, 56 (1987). Not only is this right fundamental and essential to a fair trial, "...this right is an essential attribute of the adversary system itself." *Id.* Last, but not least, none of the State's witnesses have been cross examined. "Cross-examination is the principal means by which the believability of a witness and the truth of his testimony are tested." Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 316 (1974).

This Court need not, and should not, make any determinations regarding Appellee Levine's guilt or innocence before resolving the issues presented. Conveniently, his guilt or innocence is not relevant to the issue to be determined,

whether district courts have jurisdiction to issue extraterritorial warrants, and the rule announced by the Court in this case will be applied to the innocent and guilty alike in the future.

IV. Statement of the Standard of Review.

Pursuant to M. R. App. P. 12(1)(e) and 12(2), Appellee states the standard of review for the issue presented for review is as follows:

Appellee agrees with the Statement of the Standard of Review by Appellant. When reviewing orders suppressing evidence, this Court reviews findings of fact for clear error, and reviews interpretation and application of law *de novo*. *See State v. Staker*, 2021 MT 151, ¶7, 404 Mont. 307, 489 P.3d 489. Interpretation of statutes are questions of law which this Court reviews for correctness. *See City of Missoula v. Fox*, 2019 MT 250, ¶8, 397 Mont. 388, 450 P.3d 898.

V. Argument.

Pursuant to M. R. App. P. 12(1)(f),(g), and 12(2), Appellee makes his Argument and precedes same with a summary of the argument.

a. Summary of Argument.

The search and seizure of evidence obtained by virtue of the extraterritorial warrant issued to Verizon Wireless in Bedminster, New Jersey was unconstitutional because the issuing court, the Montana Fourth Judicial District Court was without jurisdiction and authority to issue such an extraterritorial warrant. As the issuing

court was without jurisdiction to issue the warrant, the warrant was void *ab initio*, and the *Leon* good faith exception does not apply. Even if *Leon* applies to void *ab initio* warrants, this Court should find the evidence was properly excluded under the Supervisory Powers Doctrine.

b. Argument.

 Montana Law Does Not Provide Extraterritorial Jurisdiction to Issue Search Warrants to be Executed Outside the State of Montana.

In Montana, district court jurisdiction is provided for in Art. VII § 4 of the Montana Constitution. This section gives Montana district courts "original jurisdiction in all criminal cases amounting to a felony and all civil matters and cases at law and in equity." Mont. Const. Art. VII § 4. A Montana district court's power of process extends "to all parts of the state" and a Montana district court may have "such additional jurisdiction as delegated by the laws of the United States or the state of Montana." *Id*.

Montana Law does not delegate jurisdiction to Montana district courts to issue extraterritorial search warrants. Mont. Code Ann. § 46-5-220 gives lower court (City, Municipal and Justice Court) judges authority to issue warrants "within the judge's geographical jurisdiction" and gives Montana district court judges authority to issue warrants "within this state." *See Also* Commission Comments, "[t]he statute

allows a [Montana] District Court Judge to order a search and seizure anywhere in the state."); State v. Grussing, 2022 MT 76, ¶9, 408 Mont. 245, 507 P.3d 1152 ("Section 46-5-220, MCA, allows a district court to issue a warrant anywhere within the State ..."). The plain meaning of this statute is district courts can order search and seizure within the State, but not outside the State. Judge Watters held in United States v. Webb, United States District Court for the District of Montana Case No. 1:19-cr-00121-SPW, "... Montana Code Annotated § 46-5-220(2) does not authorize extra-territorial search warrants." Montana Fourth Judicial District Court Judge Shane A. Vannatta, who issued the warrant in question below, agreed and suppressed the evidence seized.

Other courts have long recognized the principle "every state possesses exclusive jurisdiction and sovereignty over persons and property within its territory." *Overby v. Gordon*, 177 U.S. 214, 222 (1900). A corollary of that principle is "no State can exercise direct jurisdiction and authority over persons and property *without* its territory. The several States are of equal dignity and authority, and the independence of one implies the exclusion of power from all others." *Id.* (emphasis added). As a result, "no tribunal established by [one State] can extend its process beyond [its] territory so as to subject either persons or property to its decisions." *Id.* at 223.

This principle applies to search warrants. "Crossing state lines by allowing an Ohio court to determine when California citizens and property are subject to search and seizure crosses [the] constitutional line ... Allowing one state's court to determine when property, residences, and residents of another state may be subject to search and seizure would trample the sovereignty of states to determine the procedures by which a warrant may be issued and executed and of their courts to determine the consequences of a failure to follow those laws." *State of Ohio v. Jacob*, 185 Ohio App.3d 408, 414-415, ¶25, 924 N.E.2d 410, 415-416 (Ohio App. 2009). The "... lack of jurisdiction to issue the [search] warrant is not a mere technicality, but results in a nullity." *State v. Kirkland*, 212 Ga.App. 672, 442 S.E.2d 491 (Ga. Ct. App. 1994) *quoting Pruitt v. State*, 123 Ga.App. 659, 664, 182 S.E.2d 142 (1971).

States do have the ability to vest their courts with authority to issue extraterritorial search warrants under limited circumstances, and some states have enacted such laws. The Montana Legislature has chosen not to do so. Montana does have a statute allowing warrants for electronic data to be served on domestic entities or foreign companies otherwise doing business under a contract with a resident of Montana. However, the statute does not give district courts authority to issue extraterritorial warrants and does not give authority for law enforcement to serve providers who have contracts with non-residents, or search locations outside the State of Montana. Mont. Code Ann. § 46-5-605(3)(a) provides as follows:

A warrant or investigative subpoena under 46-5-602 may be served only on a provider of an electronic communication that is a domestic entity or a company or entity otherwise doing business in this state under a contract or a terms of service agreement with a resident of this state if any part of that contract or agreement is to be performed in this state.

Mont. Code Ann. § 46-5-605(3) does not give authority to issue an extraterritorial warrant. When the Montana legislature intends to give permission for a Montana court to exercise authority beyond the State's borders, it expressly does so in a statute. For example, Montana courts are expressly given authority to cooperate with out-of-state courts in summoning witnesses from outside the state. Mont. Code Ann. § 46-15-113, captioned "Subpoena of Witness in Another State to Testify in this State" authorizes a judge of a Montana court to "issue a certificate under the seal of the court" stating the facts necessary to justify summoning the outof-state witness. "The certificate must be presented to a judge of a court of record in the county in which the witness is found." *Id*. Montana has a reciprocal statute, Mont. Code Ann. § 46-15-112, which allows the judge of a court of record in any other state to comply with essentially the same process in obtaining a witness from Montana. Under special circumstances, Montana also explicitly provides for jurisdiction over a nonresident for purposes of establishing child support. See e.g., Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-210. There is no Montana statute expressly authorizing a Montana court to issue a search warrant to search and seize property located beyond the borders of the state.

A version of Mont. Code Ann. § 46-5-605(3) that would have expressly provided authority to issue an extraterritorial warrant was rejected by the Montana Legislature. The legislative history of House Bill 148 (2017), later codified as Mont. Code Ann. § 46-5-605(3), reveals an earlier version of the bill which would have required a provider of an electronic communication to produce all electronic customer data, contents of communications and other information "regardless of where the information was held." The Montana Legislature struck the language "regardless of where the information was held" from the draft legislation and it does not appear in the final version of statute. *See* Mont. Code Ann. § 46-5-605(3).

Mont. Const. Art. VII § 4 may allow district courts to exercise "such additional jurisdiction as delegated by the laws of the United States" but no such "additional jurisdiction" has been delegated. Federal Law did not provide jurisdiction to the issuing judge who signed the warrant at App. B and did not otherwise authorize the issuance of the search warrant. The only relevant federal law is the Stored Communications Act (SCA) 18 U.S.C. § 2701 et. seq. That law provides:

A governmental entity may require a provider of electronic communication service or remote computing service to disclose a record or other information pertaining to a subscriber to or customer of

² *See* HB 148 of the 65th Montana Legislature, page 4:6-4:7, available at https://legiscan.com/MT/text/HB148/id/1596680/Montana-2017-HB148-Amended.pdf.

such service (not including the contents of communications) when the governmental entity –

obtains a warrant issued using the procedures described in the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure (or, in the case of a State court, issued using State warrant procedures ...

18 U.S.C. § 2703(c)(1)(A). (emphasis supplied).

Federal law allows a government entity to apply for a warrant to obtain electronic data, but when the warrant is applied for in State court, the warrant must be *issued using State warrant procedures*. State warrant procedures require the issuing court to have jurisdiction to issue the warrant. Here, the state district court did not have jurisdiction to issue a search warrant for property located in another state, it was not otherwise provided that authority, and the SCA does not apply.

Montana Law does not provide jurisdiction to district courts to issue extraterritorial warrants or authorize the search and seizure of evidence outside the State of Montana.

ii. The Good Faith Exception does not Apply to Void *Ab Initio*Warrants.

Under Montana law, if a judge does not have statutory authority to issue a search warrant, the warrant is void *ab initio*. *See Potter v. District Court of the Sixteenth Judicial Dist.*, 266 Mont. 384, 393, 880 P.2d 1319, 1325 (1994). As set forth in *Potter*, a search warrant issued without authority is of no force and effect and provides law enforcement with no authority to search or seize evidence. *See Id*.

Seizing evidence in the absence of a valid search warrant violates a defendant's "substantial rights to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures under Article II, Section 11 of Montana's Constitution." *Id.* In *State v. Vickers*, 1998 MT 201, ¶23, 290 Mont. 356, 964 P.2d 756, this Court considered the same Good Faith *Leon/Potter* arguments raised by the Appellant below and rejected them. The *Vickers* Court held:

... the State's reliance on *Leon* is misplaced. In *Leon*, the basic inquiry was whether the purpose of the exclusionary rule would be served in suppressing evidence seized pursuant to a search warrant issued by a judge who mistakenly thought that the warrant was supported by probable cause. [*United States v.*] *Leon*, 468 U.S. [897] at 905-922 [(1984)] ... In contrast, the [basic] inquiry in the instant case is not whether the purposes of the exclusionary rule would be served by invalidating the search warrants, but whether [the warrant issuing judge] had the authority to issue the search warrants at all. *See Potter*, 266 Mont. at 392, 880 P.2d at 1325. We have held that failure to have search warrants issued by a properly appointed judge renders them void *ab initio*, of no force or effect. *Potter*, 266 Mont. at 393, 880 P.2d at 1325. If a search warrant is void *ab initio*, the inquiry stops and all other issues pertaining to the validity of the search warrant, such as whether the purpose of the exclusionary rule is served, are moot.

The district court correctly held the search warrant at App. B was void *ab initio* because the issuing judge, Judge Vannatta himself, did not have authority to issue the extraterritorial warrant. A void warrant is no warrant at all, and warrantless searches violate the Fourth Amendment as well as Art. II § 11.

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